047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,869

JUN 25 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

MARIE G. FABRE, EDDY W. FABRE, and STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellants,

v.

ANN MARIN,

Appellee.

APPELLANTS' FABRE INITIAL BRIEF

MANDINA & GINSBERG, P.A. 2064 Aviation Avenue Second level Miami, Florida 33133 (305)441-1181

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioners, MARIE G. FABRE and EDDY W. FABRE, were Defendants in the trial of this matter. Co-Petitioner, Defendant, STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, was the Plaintiff's Uninsured/Underinsured Motorist Carrier. Initially, both Ann Marin, and Ramon Marin, her husband, were Plaintiffs, but Ramon Marin voluntarily dismissed his claim at trial. (T.94)

Petitioners, MARIE G. FABRE and EDDY W. FABRE, substantially adopt the Statement of the Case and Facts as set forth in the brief of Appellee, Ann Marin, filed in the Third District Court of Appeal and as set forth below, with some modification.

On January 29, 1989, Ann Marin was a passenger in an automobile being driven by her husband, Ramon Marin. (T.103-13, 142-43) The Marin's were proceeding Northbound in the left of five traveling lanes of I-95 when, in the vicinity of N.W. 103rd Street, Mr. Marin was forced to take evasive action to avoid an automobile which had cut directly in front of him while changing into his lane. (id.) Although Mr. Marin successfully avoided a collision with this automobile, he lost control of his own vehicle during the evasive maneuver, and struck the concrete median wall. (id.) Mrs. Marin was seriously injured and Mr. Marin suffered minor injuries. (T.113-20)

Mr. & Mrs. Marin thereafter filed suit against Marie Fabre, alleging that she was driving the automobile which cut them off while changing into their lane, and that her negligence was a cause

of their injuries. (R.2-5) Mrs. Fabre's husband, Eddy Fabre, was joined as a Defendant because he was the owner of the automobile which Mrs. Fabre was driving at the time. (R.2-5;T.250) Fabre's filed an Answer denying every allegation of the Marins' Complaint and alleged Affirmative Defenses, including Comparative Negligence of both Mr. & Mrs. Marin. (R.6-7) The Answer and Affirmative Defenses of the Fabre's did not specifically allege Florida Statute 768.81. The Answer and Affirmative Defenses of State Farm included an allegation that the Marins' recoveries should be reduced pursuant to Florida Statute 768.81 by the percentage of fault attributable to the negligence of a third party State Farm's Answer did not contain the specific (R.46-48)allegation that Mrs. Marin's recovery should be reduced by the negligence of Mr. Marin. (id.)

On the first day of trial, Mr. Marin's claim was voluntarily dismissed; Mr. Marin was dropped as a Plaintiff and the trial proceeded on Mrs. Marin's claim alone. (T.94) On the liability issue, the jury was presented with two conflicting versions of the accident. Mr. Marin, a certified public accountant and councilman for the City of North Miami Beach, testified that he was driving in the leftmost traveling lane of Interstate 95 at 55-65 miles per hour; that Mrs. Fabre's vehicle was in the lane to his right; that Mrs. Fabre pulled into his lane, directly in front of him; that he had to take evasive action to avoid a collision; that he swerved to his right; that he avoided a collision with Mrs. Fabre's

automobile; that he noticed as he was swerving around Mrs. Fabre's vehicle that it had a flat tire; that he apparently over corrected for the swerve when he straightened the steering wheel; and that he hit the concrete median wall as a result. (T.101-23) Mrs. Marin recalled that "the car" moved into their lane. (T. 142-43) According to Mr. Marin, after Mrs. Fabre had stopped her car in the emergency lane next to the retaining wall, she approached him and said, "I am sorry", but she denied being the cause of the accident. (T.121)

Mrs. Fabre told an entirely different story. According to her, she was proceeding Northbound on I-95 in the second traveling lane from the left at 45-50 miles per hour, when her car had a flat tire. (T.32-41) She had no difficulty controlling her car, and she pulled over to the left and parked the car in the emergency lane. (T.34-45)Thereafter, she stood beside her car watching the Northbound traffic for someone she knew to come along. (T.46-52) After four or five minutes, she observed a red car, followed by the Marins' car traveling Northbound in the third traveling lane from the left. (id.) According to Mrs. Fabre both cars attempted to change lanes to the right, but the Marins' car "swayed" to the left, and then hit the median wall. (id.) There was an adult witness in Mrs. Fabre's car at the time, but neither the Plaintiff nor the Defendants called her to testify. (T.42-44;163)

At the Jury Charge Conference, the Defendants requested that the verdict form allow the jury to apportion blame for the accident between Mr. Marin and Mrs. Fabre. (T.268-79) The Plaintiff's objected and the Trial Court declined the Defendants' request ruling that Section 768.81 authorized apportionment only between parties to the action. (id.) To obviate the necessity of a retrial if this ruling later proved to be erroneous, the Marins agreed to have the issue of Mr. Marin's negligence submitted to the jury, subject to a post trial determination of whether any affirmative finding on that issue should result in a reduction of Mrs. Marin's recovery in the Judgment ultimately entered. (T.290-93) The jury thereafter returned a verdict finding both Mrs. Fabre and Mr. Marin fifty percent at fault. (R.126-28)

State Farm filed timely post trial motions including a Motion for Reduction of Mrs. Marin's recovery by fifty percent. (R.129, 132,143) State Farm's Motion for New Trial was denied but the Trial Court granted State Farm's Motion for Remittur, and then ordered a remittur of \$5,000.00 in the economic damages awarded to Mrs. Marin (which Mrs. Marin accepted); the initial Final Judgment was vacated, and an Amended Final Judgment was entered in the reduced amount against both the Fabres and State Farm. (R.145,147,161,Fabre's Appendix to Initial Brief filed with Third District Court of Appeal)

Both the Fabres, and State Farm timely filed their Notice of Appeal of the Amended Final Judgment. (R.150-53)

Both the Fabres and State Farm raised several issues on appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal, including improper reference

by the Plaintiff to a traffic citation, a prejudicial closing argument, and failure to give a requested jury instructions. The Fabres do not seek review by this Court of those Appellate issues.

However, with regard to the apportionment of liability issue, the Third District Court of Appeal issued its opinion certifying direct and express conflict with Messmer v. Teacher's Insurance Company, 588 So.2d 610 (FLA. 5th DCA 1991). The Fabres timely filed their Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.120. Similarly, State Farm timely filed their Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction and the two appeals have been consolidated by Order of the Supreme Court.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. Whether Florida Statute 768.81 requires the fact finder to apportion liability between the named defendants, and unnamed tortfeasors who were parties to the incident giving rise to the negligence action.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida Statute 768.81(3) in clear and unambiguous terms provides that a Defendant shall only be liable to a Plaintiff for the Defendant's own percentage of fault and specifically not on the basis of joint and several liability.

Assuming statutory ambiguity, accepted statutory construction jurisprudence requires this Court to interpret the Statute in accordance with the Legislative intent to hold a named defendant liable for only its proportionate share of liability without regard to Joint and Several Liability.

Other State and Federal Courts interpreting State law have uniformly held that the negligent unnamed Defendant who may have contributed to a Plaintiff's injuries must be considered in determining a named Defendant's percentage of liability to a Plaintiff.

ARGUMENT

Preamble

The essential question is whether the Florida Legislature effectively replaced the Common Law Doctrine of Joint and Several Liability with the legal concept of Apportionment of Liability.

Florida Statute 768.81(1989) provides:

768.81 Comparative fault.--

- (1) DEFINITION. -- As used in this section, "economic damages" means past lost income and future lost income reduced to present value; medical and funeral expenses; lost support and services; replacement value of lost personal property; loss of appraised fair market value of real property; costs of construction repairs, including labor, overhead, and profit; and any other economic loss which would not have occurred but for the injury giving rise to the cause of action.
- (2) EFFECT OF CONTRIBUTORY FAULT. -- In an action to which this section applies, any contributory fault chargeable to the claimant diminishes proportionately the amount awarded as economic and noneconomic damages for an injury attributable to the

claimant's contributory fault, but does not bar recovery.

- (3) APPORTIONMENT OF DAMAGES. -- In cases to which this section applies, the court shall enter judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party's percentage of fault and not on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability; provided that with respect to any party whose percentage of fault equals or exceeds that of a particular claimant, the court shall enter judgment with respect to economic damages against that party on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability.
 - (4) APPLICABILITY. --
- (a) This section applies to negligence cases. For purposes of this section, "negligence cases" includes, but is not limited to, civil actions for damages based upon theories of negligence, strict liability, products liability, professional malpractice whether couched in terms of contract or tort, or breach of warranty and like theories. In determining whether a case faills within the term "negligence cases," the court shall look to the substance of the action and not the conclusory terms used by the parties.
- (b) This section does not apply to any action brought by any person to recover actual economic damages resulting from pollution, to any action based upon an intentional tort, or to any cause of action as to which application of the doctrine of joint and several liability is specifically provided by chapter 403, chapter 498, chapter 517, chapter 542, or chapter 895.
- (5) APPLICABILITY OF JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY. -- Notwithstanding the provisions of this section, the doctrine of joint and several liability applies to all actions in which the total amount of damages does not exceed \$25,000.
- (6) Notwithstanding anything in law to the contrary, in an action for damages for personal injury or wrongful death arising out of medical malpractice, whether in contract or tort, when an apportionment of damages pursuant to this section is attributed to a teaching hospital as defined in s.395.502(22), the court shall enter judgment against the teaching hospital on the basis of such party's percentage of fault and not on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability.

Prior to the enactment of the above Statute, this Court considered the issue of Apportionment of Liability in <u>Walt Disney</u>

<u>World v. Wood</u>, 515 So.2d 198 (FLA 1987). The "Walt Disney Case" arose from a 1971 accident occurring at Walt Disney World, where

Ms. Wood was injured at the Grand Prix attraction, when her fiancee Daniel Wood rammed from the rear the vehicle which Ms. Wood was driving. Ms. Wood filed suit against Disney. The jury returned a verdict finding Ms. Wood 14 percent negligent, Daniel Wood 85% negligent, and Disney 1% negligent. The Circuit Court entered Judgment against Disney for 86% of the total damages. Disney sought to alter the Judgment to reflect the jury's finding that Disney was only 1% at fault.

This Court in its final paragraph stated,

"While recognizing the logic in Disney's position, we cannot say with certainty that joint and several liability is an unjust doctrine or that it should necessarily be eliminated upon the adoption of comparative negligence. In view of the public policy considerations bearing on the issue, this Court believes that the viability of the doctrine is a matter which should best be decided by the Legislature."

The Messmer Case

Messmer, supra arose from a motor vehicle accident wherein Ann Messmer was occupying an automobile being driven by her husband, Arthur, which collided with an uninsured pick-up truck. Ann Messmer's uninsured motorist carrier, Teacher's Insurance Company, issued a \$300,000.00 dollar policy on the Messmer vehicle including uninsured motorist coverage. The uninsured motorist claim was submitted to arbitration, pursuant to the policy requirements.

The arbitrators found that the uninsured motorist was 20% responsible for causing the accident.

Teacher's Insurance Company paid the economic damages in full, but only paid 20% of the arbitrators' non-economic damage award.

The Circuit Court granted a Summary Judgment in favor of

Teacher's Insurance holding that Teacher's had fully satisfied the arbitrator's award by payment of 20% of the non-economic damages.

Messmer appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, who affirmed the Summary Judgment holding that Florida Statute 768.81(3) requires apportioning liability among all participants to the accident.

The Fabre Case

Fabre arose from a motor vehicle accident in which Ann Marin was a passenger in a motor vehicle owned an operated by her husband, Ramon Marin. State Farm was the Marin's underinsured motorist carrier. Ann Marin alledged that the negligence of Mrs. Fabre caused her husband to vere into a concrete median wall, resulting in injuries to Ann Marin.

At trial, the jury determined Mrs. Fabre to be fifty percent at fault; and Ramon Marin fifty percent at fault. Accordingly, State Farm filed a post trial motion requesting the trial court to enter judgment for non-economic damages against Mrs. Fabre and State Farm based on the fifty percent negligence attributed to Mrs. Fabre. The trial court denied the motion and both State Farm and Mrs. Fabre appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal.

The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's denial of the motion holding that Florida Statute 768. 81(3) was ambiguous and therefore held that liability could only be apportioned among non-immune defendant tortfeasors.

A. THE STATUTE MUST BE GIVEN IT'S PLAIN MEANING AND EFFECT.

In 1986, the Florida Legislature enacted Florida Statute

768.81 which in **subsection 3**, in clear and unambiguous terms provides,

In cases to which this section applies, the Court shall enter judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party(s) percentage of fault and not on the basis of the Doctrine of Joint and Several Liability.

When the language of a Statute is plain and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no need to resort to the Rules of Statutory Interpretation; the Statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning. Holly v. Auld, 450 So.2d 217 (FLA. 1984).

Where the intent of the Legislature is clear and unmistakable from the language used in the Statute, it is the Court's duty to give effect to that Statute as expressed. <u>Engelwood Water District</u> v. Tate, 334 So.2d 626 (FLA. 2nd DCA 1976)

Recently, in <u>Silva v. Southwest Florida Blood Bank, Inc.</u>, 17 FLWS 303 (FLA. May 28, 1992), acknowledged that it is the Supreme Court's initial responsibility when construing a Statute to give the words their plain meaning and ordinary meaning. Quoting from <u>Tropical Coach Line</u>, Inc. v. Carter, 121 So.2d 779,782 (FLA. 1960), this Court wrote:

In making a judicial effort to acertain the Legislative intent implicit in a Statute, the Courts are bound by the plain and definite language of the Statute and are not authorized to engage in semantic niceties or speculations. If the language of the Statute is clear and unequivocal, then the Legislative intent must be derived from the words used without involving incidental rules of construction or engaging in speculation as to what the judges might think that the Legislators intended or should have intended.

Moreover, citing <u>Shelby Mutual Insurance Company v. Smith</u>, 556 So.2d 393,395 (FLA. 1990) this court stated, "A court must not resort to sources outside a Statute to interpret clear and unambiguous words the Legislature chose to employ."

Adopting this Court's method of analysis in <u>Silva</u>, supra, the Petitioners would show that Florida Statute 768.81(3) uses clear and unambiguous language. The operative words of <u>subsection</u> 3 are "party", "liable, and "fault". Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary (1973) at page 836, 661, 418) defines these words:

PARTY 1: a person or group taking one side of a question, dispute, or contest 2: a group of persons organized for the purpose of directing the policies of a government 3: a person or group participating in an action or affair: Participant <to - the transaction>

LIABLE 1 a: obligated according to law or equity; Responsible b: subject to appropriation or attachment 2 a: being in a position to incur - used with to < - to diseases> b: exposed or subject to some usu. adverse contingency or action:

FAULT 4: responsibility for wrongdoing or failure

Black's Law Dictionary (1983) defines these words as follows:

PARTY, n. A person concerned or having or taking party in any affair, matter, transaction, or proceeding considered individually. A "party" to an action is a person whose name is designated on record as plaintiff or defendant. Term, in general, means one having right to control proceedings, to make defense, to adduce and cross-examine witnesses, and to appeal from judgment.

LIABLE. Bound or obliged in law or equity; responsible; chargeable; answerable, compellable to make satisfaction, compensation, or restitution. Obligated; accountable for or chargeable with. Condition or being bound to respond because a wrong has occurred. Condition out of which a legal liability might arise. Justly or legally responsible or answerable.

FAULT. Negligence; an error or defect of judgment or of conduct; any deviation from prudence, duty, or rectitude; any shortcoming or neglect of care or performance resulting from inattention, incapacity, or pervisity; a wrong tendency, course or act; bad faith or mismanagment; neglect of duty. The word connotes an act to which blame, censure, impropriety, shortcoming or culpability attaches.

As is evidenced from the above definitions, there is no ambiguity to clarify in the words "party", "liable", and "fault".

Subsection 3 means precisely what it says: "THE COURT SHALL ENTER JUDGMENT AGAINST EACH PARTY LIABLE ON THE BASIS OR SUCH PARTY(S) PERCENTAGE OF FAULT AND NOT ON THE BASIS OF THE DOCTRINE OF JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY." (Emphasis ours).

Clearly, the only means of determing a party's percentage of fault is to compare that party's actions against all other parties to the transaction, incident, or accident.

Accordingly, the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Messmer</u>, supra, reached the correct result when it held that all participants to the transaction or accident, must be considered in determining a liable party's percentage of fault; notwithstanding the fact that such other participant may in fact be the spouse of the claimant or otherwise immune from liability.

B. RULES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION SUPPORT APPORTIONMENT BETWEEN ALL POTENTIAL TORTFEASORS.

Assuming arguendo that **Subsection 3** is ambiguous, the rules of statutory construction support apportionment between all potential tortfeasors.

The Legislative intent of a Statute is the primary factor of importance in construing that statute. Tyson v. Lanier, 156 So.2d 833 (FLA. 1963), Deltona Corp. v. Florida Public Service Commission, 220 So.2d 905 (FLA. 1969), Florida Industrial Commission v. Manpower Inc. of Miami, 91 So.2d 197 (FLA. 1956) This intent must be determined primarily from the language of the Statute. State v. Atlantic CLR Company, 47 So. 969 (FLA. 1908);

Vanpelt v. Hilliard, 78 So. 693 (FLA. 1918); SRG Corp. v.

Department of Revenue, 365 So.2d 687 (FLA. 1987)

To understand the Statute's intent and purpose, this Court may consider the history of the Statute, the subject to be regulated, the evil it is intended to correct, and the object it is designed to attain. Scarborough v. Neusum, 7 So.2d 21 (FLA. 1942)

Section 768.81(3) was enacted as part of the Tort Reform and Insurance Act of 1986, Chapter 860-160 Laws of Florida. The preamble to this Act begins:

WHEREAS, the Legislature finds that there is in Florida a financial crisis in the liability insurance industry, causing a serious lack of availability of many lines of commercial liability insurance,...

WHEREAS, the Legislature finds that the current tort system has significantly contributed to the insurance availability and affordability crisis, and...

WHEREAS, the magnitude of this compelling social problem demands immediate and dramatic legislative action...

Clearly, the preamble to the Act indicates that it was the intent of the Legislature to make fundamental changes to the tort system within the State of Florida. Accordingly, Section 2 of the Act provides in relevant part:

The Legislature finds and declares that a solution to the current crisis in liability insurance has created an overpowering public necessity for a comprehensive combination of reforms of both the tort system and insurance regulatory system. This act is a remedial measure and is intended to cure the current crises and to prevent the recurrence of such a crises.

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