IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 79,870

199

8

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

SEP

By.

ANN MARIN; MARIE G. FABRE and EDDY W. FABRE,

Respondents.

MARIE G. FABRE AND EDDY W. FABRE,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO. 79,869

ANN MARIN and STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ANN MARIN ON THE MERITS

GROSSMAN & ROTH, P.A. 2665 South Bayshore Drive, Penthouse One Grand Bay Plaza Miami, Fla. 33133 -and-PODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG, EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. 25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800 Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-2800

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

We accept the Fabres' statement of the case and facts as essentially accurate.

П.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DECLINING TO APPORTION THE PLAINTIFF'S DAMAG-ES BETWEEN THE DEFENDANTS AND A NON-PARTY TO THE ACTION, AND IN ENTERING JUDGMENT AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS IN THE FULL (REMIT-TED) AMOUNT OF THE VERDICT AS A RESULT.

III.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Because our argument will be intricate, complex, and lengthy, we can only superficially outline it here. Our initial contention will be that §768.81(3) is not unambiguous, as the defendants insist. In fact, the statute is lacking an essential piece, and it is therefore quintessentially ambiguous. Although the statute provides for the assessement of liability "on the basis of such party's percentage of fault," *it nowhere defines the whole by which the percentage is to be determined*. One cannot "determine a percentage of ...," of course; one must determine a percentage of *something* -- a total which amounts to a *whole* -- and in the absence of a definition of the whole, the statute is undeniably ambiguous, and its meaning must therefore be determined by resort to settled rules of statutory construction.

In our judgment, at least three settled rules of statutory construction require the Court to read the statute as narrowly as possible, and to define "the (missing) whole" to be *all parties to the lawsuit* -- rather than all persons or entities who contributed to the plaintiff's injuries, whether parties to the action or not, and even if they could not have been found directly liable to the plaintiff, either severally or jointly with the defendants. The primary rule of statutory construction is, of course, to determine the legislative intent -- and it is appropriate to consult a statute's legislative history to determine its meaning. As we will

explain in the argument which follows, the legislative history which is available for the enactment of §768.81(3) fully supports our proposed construction of the statute, rather than the defendants'.

The second rule of statutory construction which is implicated here is that a statute in derogation of the common law is to be construed strictly, to do as little damage to the common law as possible, and the common law will not be deemed repealed unless the statute clearly and explicitly announces such an intent. As we will demonstrate at considerable length in the argument which follows, the construction of the statute proposed by the defendants does *enormous* damage to the common law in *numerous* areas. On the other hand, our proposed construction of the statute does only limited damage to the common law. The Court should therefore be guided by the settled rule that an ambiguous statute will be construed to do as little damage to the common law as possible, and it should define "the (missing) whole" as narrowly as possible to preserve those areas of the common law not explicitly abolished by the statute -- by defining "the whole" as "the parties to the lawsuit."

There is a third rule of statutory construction which is implicated here -- the settled rule that repeals by implication are not favored, and that two (or more) statutes should be construed in such a way as to preserve the force of each, and to render them consistent if at all possible. That rule is squarely implicated here because, when it enacted §768.81(3), the legislature did *not* repeal any of several existing statutes which are plainly inconsistent with the defendants' proposed construction of the statute. In order to avoid an implied repeal of those statutes, and to render those statutes consistent with §768.81(3), the only available definition of "the (missing) whole" is the one which we have proposed here.

In short, there are several settled rules of statutory construction which simply require the narrowest definition of "the (missing) whole" which the Court can supply. And to reinforce the *clear need* for application of those rules to produce that narrow construction, we will ask the Court to consider a number of "horribles" which would accompany acceptance of the defendants' proposed definition. We will also explain that the reasons given for the Fifth District's recent conflicting decision in *Messmer v. Teacher's Insurance Co.*, 588 So.2d 610 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), review denied, 598 So.2d 77 (Fla. 1992), were non sequiturs.

Finally, we will argue alternatively to the Court that even if it remains unpersuaded that our narrow construction of the statute is the correct one, there is a middle ground available to it which would at least minimize the damage to existing common and statutory law -- defining "the (missing) whole" as all persons and entities with whom the defendant could have been found jointly and severally liable to the plaintiff under the doctrine of joint and several liability. If that alternative construction of the statute is to be adopted by the Court, then the result reached by the trial court in this case remains correct, because Mr. Marin was simply not a "joint tortfeasor" who could have been found liable to his wife under the doctrine of joint and several liability in the first place, whether a party to her lawsuit or not -- and the defendants' remedy was an action under §768.31 for contribution, according to the decisional law, and the statutory law which is still in place. Most respectfully, if either of our alternative constructions of §768.81(3) is to be adopted here, the district court correctly affirmed Mrs. Marin's judgment for the full amount of her (remitted) damages.

IV. ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DECLINING TO APPORTION THE PLAINTIFF'S DAMAGES BETWEEN THE DEFENDANTS AND A NON-PARTY TO THE ACTION, AND IN ENTERING JUDGMENT AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS IN THE FULL (REMITTED) AMOUNT OF THE VERDICT AS A RESULT.

> A. Resolution of the problem presented here depends upon a definition of "the whole" by which a "party's percentage of fault" is to be determined

LAW OFFICES, PODHURST ORSECK JOSEFSBERG EATON MEADOW OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. - OF COUNSEL, WALTER H. BECKHAM, JR. 25 WEST FLAGLER STREET - SUITE 800, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130-1780 (305) 358-2800

-- a definition which is missing from §768.81(3).

The defendants (and their numerous amici) contend that §768.81(3), Fla. Stat., required the trial court to apportion Mrs. Marin's intangible damages between (1) the Fabres (and State Farm, which stands in the Fabres' shoes), and (2) Mr. Marin, a non-party to the action. We intend to demonstrate that §768.81(3) does not require that result, but before we analyze the statute it is necessary to place the issue presented here in its proper historical and legal context. Context is important, because the defendants' approach to the issue presented here is both superficial and simplistic, and does not even contain a hint of the exceptional complexity which lurks beneath its surface. Most respectfully, because the doctrine of joint and several liability has been a cornerstone of Florida tort law for nearly a century, numerous tort doctrines have been constructed upon it and accommodated to it over the years, and resolution of the issue presented here will therefore have enormous and profound consequences upon numerous areas of the law. And because there is *considerably* more at stake here than merely whether State Farm and the Fabres pay all of Mrs. Marin's damages or only half, we intend to provide the Court with considerable context as we proceed.

Prior to the enactment of §768.81(3), the facts presented by this case would have implicated the following settled principles of law:

(1) Mr. Marin could not have been found liable to Mrs. Marin, either severally or jointly with the Fabres, because suit against him would have been barred at the threshold by the doctrine of interspousal immunity. *Raisen v. Raisen*, 379 So.2d 352 (Fla. 1979), *cert. denied*, 449 U.S. 886, 101 S. Ct. 240, 66 L. Ed.2d (1980).

(2) In an action by Mrs. Marin against the Fabres, Mr. Marin's negligence could not have been imputed to Mrs. Marin to reduce her recovery. *Bessett v. Hackett*, 66 So.2d 694 (Fla. 1953).

(3) In an action by Mrs. Marin against the Fabres, the Fabres' remedy for

apportioning Mrs. Marin's damages between themselves and Mr. Marin would have been an action against Mr. Marin for contribution under §768.31, Fla. Stat. (for which Mr. Marin would have been indemnified by his own liability insurance carrier, State Farm). *Shor v. Paoli*, 353 So.2d 825 (Fla. 1977).

(4) In an action by Mrs. Marin against the Fabres (in which contribution against Mr. Marin had not been sought by joining him as a third-party defendant under §768.31), the issue of Mr. Marin's negligent contribution to his wife's injuries could not have been submitted to or determined by the jury. *See Metropolitan Dade County v. Yearby*, 580 So.2d 186 (Fla. 3rd DCA), *review denied*, 589 So.2d 291 (Fla. 1991); *Blocker v. Wynn*, 425 So.2d 166 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). *Cf. Dudley v. Carroll*, 467 So.2d 706 (Fla. 5th DCA), *review dismissed*, 469 So.2d 749 (Fla. 1985).¹

In short (and if these settled legal principles continue to apply), because Mr. Marin was not a party below, either as a counterdefendant or as a third-party defendant in a contribution action, (1) the issue of his negligent contribution should not have been submitted to the jury; (2) Mrs. Marin was entitled to recover the full amount of her (remitted) damages from the Fabres (and State Farm, which stands in the Fabres' shoes); and the Fabres' (and State Farm's) remedy for apportionment lay in a subsequent contribution action against Mr. Marin (which would have been unnecessary, since State Farm provided Mr. Marin's liability insurance coverage as well). In other words, Mrs. Marin would have recovered the full amount of her (remitted) damages by recovering \$10,000.00 from the Fabres' liability insurance carrier and the balance from State Farm, and that would have

^{\perp} If Mrs. Marin had been a child of Mr. Marin, rather than his spouse, the governing legal principles would have been somewhat different. A child can sue a parent, but only to the extent of liability insurance coverage. *Ard v. Ard*, 414 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 1982). And in an action by a child against a non-parent, the non-parent can recover contribution from the parent, but only to the extent of liability insurance coverage. *Joseph v. Quest*, 414 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1982).

LAW OFFICES, PODHURST ORSECK JOSEFSBERG EATON MEADOW OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. - OF COUNSEL, WALTER H. BECKHAM, JR. 25 WEST FLAGLER STREET - SUITE 800, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130-1780 (305) 358-2800

been the end of the matter.

The defendants contend that all of the foregoing was changed by enactment of \$768.81(3), Fla. Stat. -- and that a defendant may now reduce its liability to a plaintiff, not by an action for contribution against a party to the lawsuit, but simply by deducting the adjudicated contributions of negligent persons who are not even parties to the suit, even if those persons could have incurred no liability to the plaintiff in the first place. The propriety of this contention depends, of course, upon \$768.81(3) -- which reads as follows:

(3) APPORTIONMENT OF DAMAGES. -- In cases to which this section applies, the court shall enter judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party's percentage of fault and not on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability; provided that with respect to any party whose percentage of fault equals or exceeds that of a particular claimant, the court shall enter judgment with respect to economic damages against that party on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability.

The defendants contend that this statute is plain and unambiguous, but it clearly is not. In fact, the statute is lacking an essential piece; it is woefully incomplete; and it is therefore quintessentially ambiguous. Although the statute provides for the assessment of liability "on the basis of such party's percentage of fault," *it nowhere defines the whole by which the percentage is to be determined*. One cannot "determine a percentage of ...," of course; one must determine a percentage of *something* -- a total which amounts to a *whole* -- and in the absence of a definition of the whole, the statute is, in our judgment, essentially gibberish. It has therefore fallen to this Court (as it often does) to give the legislature's handiwork a workable meaning by defining "the whole" by which a "party's percentage of fault" is to be determined -- and that unfortunate task simply cannot be avoided here. *See Garden v. Frier*, 17 FLW S381 (Fla. July 2, 1992) (where legislature failed to define the term "professional" in §95.11(4), Fla. Stat., Court was forced to supply a workable definition).²

 $[\]frac{2}{2}$ Although the district court identified the absence of a definition of "the whole" as an

LAW OFFICES. PODHURST ORSECK JOSEFSBERG EATON MEADOWOLIN & PERWIN, P.A. - OF COUNSEL, WALTER H. BECKHAM, JR. 25 WEST FLAGLER STREET - SUITE 800, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130-1780 (305) 358-2800

In essence, the defendants have asked the Court to supply the missing piece of the statute by defining "the whole" to be this: *all persons or entities who contributed to the plaintiff's injuries*, whether parties to the action or not, and even if they could not have been found directly liable to the plaintiff, either severally or jointly with the defendants. If that is to be the definition of "the whole" by which the Fabres' ultimate liability to Mrs. Marin is to be determined, then the defendants are correct that they should only have been held liable for 50% of Mrs. Marin's intangible damages. For two alternative reasons, however, we believe that the result reached by the trial court and the district court in the instant case was correct.

First, for the several reasons which follow, we believe the trial court and the district court correctly supplied the missing piece of the statute by defining "the whole" to be this: *all parties to the lawsuit* who contributed to the plaintiff's injuries -- and the bulk of our argument will be directed to convincing the Court that that is the more sensible construction of the statute, and the construction which the legislature most probably intended.³ Second, we will argue alternatively that, even if "the whole" is to be defined to include non-parties to the lawsuit, the result in this case was nevertheless correct -- because "the whole" can

ambiguity in the statute, it also found ambiguity in the absence of the definition of the word "party." According to the district court, the word "party" could reasonably be read in context to mean a party to the accident, a party defending the lawsuit, or any party to the lawsuit. Although we agree with this analysis, we think the two ambiguities identified by the district court are simply two ways of looking at a single, larger ambiguity. As a result, and for ease of discussion, we will focus in the text on the statute's absence of a definition of "the whole," and simply adopt the district court's decision for our argument on the additional ambiguity which may be inherent in the statute's lack of a definition of the word "party."

^{3'} Actually, the district court defined "the whole" in §768.81(3) to be all party-defendants to the lawsuit. That was technically correct, because the plaintiff is included in "the whole" by a separate subsection of the statute, \$768.81(2). "The whole" created by both subsections of the statute is therefore "all parties to the lawsuit." For ease of discussion we will utilize this phrase as our definition of "the whole," and draw no distinction between the two subsections which create "the whole."

include only those non-parties who could have been found jointly and severally liable to Mrs. Marin, which (because of the doctrine of interspousal immunity) *excludes* Mr. Marin.

B. Settled rules of statutory construction require a narrow construction of §768.81(3) limiting "the (missing) whole" to parties to the lawsuit.

1. The statute is ambiguous.

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